

Subsea 7 S.A. Board Charter

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTR	ODUCTION	. 3
	1.1	Authority	3
	1.2	Membership	3
	1.3	Attendance at Meetings	3
	1.4	Frequency of Meetings	3
	1.5	Conduct of Meetings	3
	1.6	Written Resolutions	
	1.7	Minutes of Meeting	4
	1.8	Delegation of Authority	5
	1.9	Senior Independent Director	
	1.10	Committees	5
	1.11	Conflicts of Interest	
	1.12	Access to Independent Advice	
2.	DUTI	ES	7
	2.1	Values and Standards	7
	2.2	Group Strategy and Operations	
	2.2	Group Structure	
	2.3	Group Financial Reporting	
	2.5	Internal Controls	
	2.6	Group Communications	
	2.7	Board Composition	
	2.7	Corporate Governance	
	2.0	Remuneration	
	2.10	Policy Making	
	2.10	Other Responsibilities	
	2.11	Board Effectiveness	
	2.12		
		Board Charter	- O

1. INTRODUCTION

Subsea 7 S.A. (the "Company"), a Luxembourg incorporated and tax resident company, is the parent company of the Subsea 7 group (the "Group"). The Board of the Company is the vehicle by which central management and control of the Group is exercised. The Board is responsible for setting the overall strategic direction of the Group, and decisions on core strategic matters are reserved solely for the Board.

1.1 Authority

The Board of Directors is authorised, under Article 13 of the Articles of Incorporation, to manage the Company.

The Board has the widest powers to carry out acts of management in relation to the Company's affairs. All that is not expressly reserved for the general meeting by law or by the Articles is within the powers of the Board.

1.2 Membership

The Board shall be composed of at least three Directors. Directors need not be shareholders of the Company. Directors shall be appointed by the general meeting of shareholders for terms not to exceed two years. The Company may by resolution of the general meeting of shareholders dismiss any Director before the expiry of his term of office, notwithstanding any agreement between the Company and the Director. Directors may be re-elected, if the Board proposes their re-election. Directors should be sufficiently skilled to make strategic decisions on behalf of the Group.

The Board shall elect a Chairman and a Senior Independent Director from among its members.

1.3 Attendance at Meetings

The Board of Directors may only deliberate validly if the majority of its members is present in person, by telephone, by videoconference or by proxy. A Director unable to attend a meeting may give proxy to another Director. A Director may receive and vote any number of proxies. A meeting at which the majority of Directors is from a single country shall not be quorate.

Directors should make every reasonable effort to attend all Board meetings in person. Directors should be prepared to contribute substantively at each meeting by reviewing Board and Committee papers in advance of each meeting.

If a Director is attending a Board meeting by telephone or by videoconference, they shall confirm at the beginning of the meeting that are in a private location and cannot be overheard.

1.4 Frequency of Meetings

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall normally be held at least four times a year. Meetings may also be held on an ad hoc basis at such times as the Chairman may decide.

1.5 Conduct of Meetings

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be convened on the notice of the Chairman, or of any two Directors, and shall be held at the time and place set out in the agenda. The Chairman shall be responsible for setting the agenda for Board meetings, with input from the CEO. The default location for all Board meetings shall be Luxembourg.

The Board of Directors may only deliberate validly if the majority of its members shall take part in the meetings as further specified in section 1.3 above. Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held by means of telephone conference call, videoconference or any other means which allows the identification of each Director taking part. A Director attending in any such manner shall be deemed to be present. If one or more Directors are prevented from participating in the deliberations of the Board of Directors by reason of a conflict of interest, the required quorum will be the majority of nonconflicted Directors.

The Board of Directors may only deliberate validly at a meeting if the directors present or represented at such meeting do not constitute a majority of United States Citizens.

Members of the Management team, other employees, and external advisors may be invited to attend meetings, or parts of meetings, in order to give presentations or answer questions, but may not vote on decisions of the Board. At each Board meeting, the agenda shall include a meeting of the Directors without management present, and a meeting of the Non-executive Directors with no executive Director present.

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be chaired by the Chairman. In the absence of the Chairman, meetings shall be chaired by the Senior Independent Director. In the absence of both the Chairman and the Senior Independent Director, the most senior Director present shall chair the meeting.

Decisions of the Board of Directors shall be taken by a majority of the votes cast by the Directors present or represented at a meeting.

The Chairman shall have a casting vote with respect to resolutions, decisions or any other actions in a meeting where (i) the number of US Directors present or represented is equal to the number of directors present or represented who are not United States citizens, and (ii) there is an equal number of votes with respect to such resolutions, decisions or any other actions.

The CEO will ensure that mechanisms exist to provide Directors with clear and accurate information in advance of Board meetings to optimise the Board's decision- making process. The CEO will ensure at all times that Directors are kept informed of matters which materially affect the Group (meaning the Company, its subsidiaries and its subsubsidiaries).

All decisions of the Board shall be made in validly convened Board meetings. Approval of decisions of the Board by email should be avoided.

1.6 Written Resolutions

Resolutions signed by all members of the Board will be as valid and effective as if passed at a meeting duly convened and held. Written resolutions may be signed either on a single document, or by multiple identical copies of the resolution, and may be evidenced by letters, cables, telexes or faxes.

1.7 Minutes of Meeting

Minutes shall be taken of all meetings of the Board of Directors which shall accurately document decisions taken and shall be a conclusive record of the meetings. The Minutes of any meeting shall be signed by the Chairman and by the Company Secretary. The minutes shall state the location of any Directors attending by telephone or videoconference. The location of the Chair shall be stated in the minutes.

1.8 Delegation of Authority

The Board may delegate authority to manage the operations of the Company to the CEO. The Board may not delegate its responsibilities under section 2 below, but may delegate execution of the Company's strategy to the CEO. The Board is responsible for approving the Authority Level Matrix, setting out levels of delegated authority for the CEO.

Any transaction which binds the Company must, to be valid, be signed by either the Chairman or by two Directors, or by an attorney-in-fact having been given authority by Board decision or a power of attorney executed as aforesaid. The decision to enter into a transaction which binds the Company must be made in a meeting of the Board, or by written resolution.

1.9 Senior Independent Director

The Board shall appoint one of the independent Non-Executive Directors to be the Senior Independent Director whose role is to provide a sounding board for the Chairman and to serve as an intermediary for the other Directors when necessary. The Senior Independent Director shall be available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or other Executive Directors has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

Led by the Senior Independent Director, the Non-Executive Directors should meet without the Chairman present at least annually to appraise the chairman's performance and on such other occasions as are deemed appropriate

1.10 Committees

The Board may set up different committees including, but not limited to, an Audit Committee, a Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee and a Compensation Committee. Each committee shall be composed as the Board of Directors determines. The Board will appoint the committees' Chairmen. The Board may appoint Directors, as well as persons who are not Directors, to serve as members of the committees. The Board determines the purpose, authority and terms of reference applicable to any such committee, and will review and, if appropriate, amend the committees' terms of reference from time to time.

The Board has delegated authority to the CEO for authorisation to submit tenders (ATT) and authorisation to commit (ATC) for all tenders / projects up to the financial limit set out in the Authority Level Matrix. Authority to approve ATT and ATC in excess of this amount had been delegated to a Tender Committee of the Board, composed of the Chairman and a minimum of one Board member, in addition to the CEO.

The Board shall receive reports from its committees, and copies of the committees' minutes shall be circulated to all Board members.

1.11 Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions

Any Director who, when a contract or an agreement shall be submitted for approval of the Board of Directors, has an interest contrary to that of the Group or its joint ventures, must inform the Board of Directors and require that this information is entered in the minutes of the meeting. The Director concerned may not deliberate or vote in respect of any such contract or agreement and the required quorum for such resolution will be the majority of non-conflicted Directors. The foregoing shall not apply where the conflict concerns the Director also acting as a director of a Group subsidiary or joint venture. Any material transaction between the company and a related party shall be subject to the prior approval of the Board of Directors.

"Material transactions" shall mean any transaction between the company and a related party whose publication and disclosure would be likely to have a significant impact on the economic decisions of shareholders of the company and which could create a risk for the company and its shareholders who are not related parties, including minority shareholders. The nature of the transaction and the position of the related party shall be taken into consideration.

The above does not apply to transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business and concluded on normal market terms. For such transactions the Board of Directors shall establish an internal procedure to periodically assess whether these conditions are fulfilled.

Where the transaction with the related parties involves a Director or a shareholder, that Director or shareholder shall not participate in either the approval or the vote, whichever is applicable.

1.12 Access to Independent Advice

Any Director is entitled to independent professional advice, at the Company's expense, in relation to such Director's own responsibilities. Requests for independent professional advice shall be directed to the Chairman, and such advice shall be obtained with the assistance of the Company Secretary.

2. DUTIES

2.1 Values and Standards

The Board shall set the core values which will be used to guide the affairs of the Group. This will include the Group's commitment to achieving its health and safety vision and the Group's adherence to the highest ethical standards in all of its operations worldwide. The Board will integrate environmental improvement into its business plans and strategies, and will seek to embed sustainability and climate-related matters into the Group's business processes. The Board will monitor the Group's performance in these areas, and will report to shareholders on progress made.

The Board is responsible for the Group's compliance with its statutory and regulatory obligations, and will ensure that systems and processes are in place to enable these obligations to be met.

2.2 Group Strategy and Operations

The Board shall have final responsibility for the strategy and operations of the Group. The Board shall:

- Be responsible for setting the Group's overall strategy and five-year plan. The Board may delegate to the CEO the implementation of the strategy and five-year plan. The Board shall monitor from time to time the Group's performance against the agreed strategy and five-year plan;
- Be responsible for the approval of the annual budget, and subsequently for approval of any material changes to the budget;
- Have overall responsibility for the Group's operational and financial performance;
- Review, on a regular basis, the Group's operational and financial performance;
- Approve any significant change in the business of the Group, such as the extension of the business into new geographical or product areas, or the closure or disposal of a line of business;
- Approve major capital projects and related capital expenditure;
- Approve significant investments and disposals.

2.3 Group Structure

The Board shall be responsible for the effective structuring of the Group. In particular, the Board shall:

- Approve any changes relating to the Company's share capital structure, including share issues, share buybacks or capital reductions or any other equity transactions involving the Company and its direct subsidiaries;
- Approve any changes to the corporate structure of the Company and its direct subsidiaries;
- Approve the entering into of any long-term or asset joint venture, or the withdrawal from any such joint venture, or any significant changes to the terms of any such joint venture;
- Approve any changes to the Company's listings;
- Approve any changes to the Company's tax residency;
- Maintain an office in Luxembourg and wherever possible manage arrangements relating to Board meetings from its office in Luxembourg.

2.4 Group Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the Company's financial reporting and for compliance with financial reporting and disclosure obligations. In particular, the Board shall:

- Approve the Annual Report and the quarterly earnings releases prior to their release;
- Approve all other announcements, except those of a routine, regulatory nature;
- Be responsible for the Company's dividend policy, and for proposing to shareholders any declaration of dividends;
- Determine the Company's accounting policies and approve any changes to accounting policies;
- Determine the Group's treasury policies and approve any changes to the Group's treasury policies;
- Be responsible for the Company's reporting to its shareholders.

2.5 Internal Controls

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the risk management of the Group. The Board shall:

- Identify any risks which threaten the fulfilment of the Group's business objectives, including failure to perform in accordance with agreed business plans, non-compliance with law and regulation, fraud and material losses and failure to maintain appropriate accounting records;
- Ensure that an effective system of internal controls is in place at all times to manage and mitigate those risks;
- Be responsible for reporting to shareholders on the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls.

2.6 Group Communications

The Board is responsible for all communications issued by the Group, and in particular is responsible for:

- Approval of the issue of all circulars, prospectuses and listing particulars;
- Approval of all resolutions to be put to shareholders at annual and extraordinary general meetings.

2.7 Board Composition

The Board shall determine its own composition, subject to the provisions of the Company's Articles of Incorporation. The Board shall:

- Authorise any changes to the size, structure and composition of the Board;
- Recommend to shareholders the election of new Directors and the re-election of existing Directors, ensuring that all Directors are sufficiently skilled to make strategic decisions on behalf of the Company, and that the Board does not have a majority of Directors resident in a single territory;
- Elect the Chairman and Senior Independent Director and appoint and remove the CEO, and delineate their respective responsibilities;
- Ensure that adequate plans are in place for succession at CEO and senior management levels;
- Constitute Board committees and approve the committees' terms of reference;
- Appoint committee Chairmen and members;

• Appoint and remove the Company Secretary.

2.8 Corporate Governance

The Board will ensure the effective corporate governance of the Group. The Board shall:

- Review the Company's corporate governance arrangements, and make changes when appropriate, or when required for legal or regulatory reasons;
- Consider the interests of shareholders, customers, employees and other stakeholders;
- Be responsible for determining individual directors' independence;
- Have responsibility for the Company's relations with its shareholders, including ensuring that appropriate channels of contact exist for shareholders wishing to enter into dialogue with the Company.

2.9 Remuneration

The Board is responsible for setting the remuneration policy for the directors, including the non-executive Directors' fees, as well as the CEO's remuneration. The Board shall:

- Have authority to approve any change to the CEO's remuneration, including salary, incentive and stock option awards;
- Agree performance targets for the CEO, based on the recommendations of the Compensation Committee;
- Have authority to implement and operate share incentive plans as approved by shareholders, and to make changes to existing plans. This authority may be delegated to the Compensation Committee.
- Draw up a remuneration report regarding directors and the CEO.
- Submit the remuneration report to the (advisory) vote of the shareholders at the annual general meeting and ensure the publication of the results of such vote on the Company's website.

2.10 Policy Making

The Board has responsibility for setting and approving policies. Except for the Code of Conduct and the Policy in Relation to Insider Trading, the setting of policies will be delegated to the CEO.

2.11 Other Responsibilities

- The Board is responsible for approving political and other donations.
- The Board is responsible for the appointment of the Company's key advisers.

2.12 Board Effectiveness

The Board will, on an annual basis, review its own effectiveness, and take steps to improve its effectiveness wherever possible.

The Board will also review the effectiveness of the Chairman, CEO and other directors, and the effectiveness of its committees. The Board may delegate the task of conducting this review to its committees.

2.13 Board Charter

The Board shall review and assess the adequacy of this Charter on an annual basis and make any changes which it considers appropriate.